  PARK COMMISSION VETERANS’ HOUSING

During World War II many families migrated to Milwaukee County to take jobs in defense industries. These families resided in houses and apartments which had been vacated by those who entered military service and for the most part they remained when the war ended.  Due to a shortage of labor and materials, few new homes were constructed during the war years.

At the cessation of hostilities, our military was demobilized to peacetime strength almost overnight.  Therefore, as ex-servicemen returned they found living quarters virtually unobtainable and moving in with relatives or friends their only option.  The housing situation became a critical problem within a very short time.

Milwaukee County and the State of Wisconsin recognized the problem and in the latter part of 1946 the State legislature enacted measures empowering Milwaukee County to enter the field of public housing and inaugurate a program to bring about speedy relief to the veterans.  

The seriousness of the situation did not allow time to construct conventional housing, therefore, after considerable deliberation, the County Board of Supervisors opted for trailers and prefabricated houses as the most expeditious solution.  The County Board delegated the Milwaukee County Park Commission to execute the temporary veterans housing program.  The Red Cross was chosen as the agency to select and certify veterans to the Park Commission for tenancy.

The County’s Regional Planning Department, which at that point in time contained the landscape architects, architects and engineers, was tasked with preparing plans for each site.  Trailer sites required community buildings to provide toilet, shower and laundry facilities, as it was not feasible to make sewer and water connections to each unit, however, in the prefabricated houses these connections were made.  It was decided that initially trailers would be located in parks which had swimming facilities, i.e., McKinley Beach, Kosciuszko Park, Hoyt Park, etc., as they had bathhouses with toilet and shower facilities that could be used while permanent locations were developed.  

On December 26, 1946 an order for 407 trailers was placed.  Within ninety days from that date all the trailers were occupied.  Additionally, on that same date, 20 Wingfoot type houses were ordered and the ever-increasing demand for housing resulted in 500 more trailers being purchased in July of 1947.

In August of 1947, it was determined that Milwaukee County would confine its program to temporary housing and the City of Milwaukee would provide permanent facilities (Northlawn, Southlawn, etc.).  

To meet the continuing demand, 184 Wingfoot units and 374 Harnischfeger houses were ordered in October of 1947. As of February 1948 over 14,000 applications were on file at the Red Cross housing bureau, which was averaging 250 new applications each month.  By September of 1948 the five permanent trailer sites were ready and all the approximately 900 trailers that had been placed temporarily in various parks around the County were relocated.  

At its peak, the Park Commission’s Veterans Housing Division was managing 1,663 units at eleven sites and had 108 full time employees.  The division’s duties ran the full gamut of property management responsibilities and included everything from collecting rents and general maintenance to providing municipal services such as garbage collection and snow plowing.  Responsibilities even included maintaining the coin operated washers and dryers which were located in the community buildings at the various sites.

During 1954, having deemed that the housing situation had returned to normal conditions, the Park Commission recommended that the use of the house trailers and Wingfoot prefabricated homes be discontinued.  The County Board approved this recommendation and on July 1, 1955, all County operated housing except the Wilson Park site, which contained the larger Harnischfeger homes, was discontinued.

Although the Harnischfeger prefabricated homes found in Wilson Park were the largest houses provided, these basementless two bedroom units, 20 x 24 foot in size, were no larger than today’s typical two car garage.  However, the residents of this tightly knit community with a population of approximately 1,600, about half of which were children under 18, had become accustomed to living in the limited space.

After the County Board voted in 1959 to terminate this eleven year old project, the tenants protested loudly at both Park Commission and County Board meetings.  However, much to their dismay, the County held firm in its position to close the development.  By the summer of 1959 many of the project’s residents began vacating their homes. Due to a number of extensions given, the last few families did not move from Wilson until 1963.  

Today, the area once occupied by this housing project, is the site of the Wilson Recreation Center.
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